Pharmacological analysis of the mechanisms underlying seizure induction mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors

Higor Alves Iha

Osaka University of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Osaka, Japan

Abstract

Convulsive seizures are caused by transitory excitation of the brain, often manifesting clonic or tonic-clonic convulsions. Convulsive seizures can be divided into "symptomatic" seizures associated with a brain injury or a metabolic/toxic disturbance of brain function and "idiopathic" seizures with unknown cause. Nicotinic acetylcholine (nACh) receptors are pentameric ligandgated cation channels that control neuronal excitability and neurotransmitters release in the brain. Consequently, neural nACh receptors are responsible for regulating various pathophysiological functions including psychomotor activity, cognition, autonomic functions, movement disorders and seizure induction. Specifically, nACh receptors are suggested to be involved in seizures induction in various idiopathic epileptic disorders (e.g., generalized epilepsies-epilepsy with generalized tonic-clonic seizures and partial epilepsies-autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy and generalized epilepsy) as well as in nicotine intoxication. However, the mechanisms underlying nACh receptor-mediated seizure induction are still unknown. Among many available methods to evaluate brain activity, expression analysis of Fos protein, a biological marker of neural excitation, has been shown to be useful for exploring brain regions related to brain disorders and drug actions. In the present study, therefore, behavioral and Fos-immunohistochemical techniques were combined to delineate the underlying mechanisms of how stimulation of nACh receptor by nicotine results in convulsive seizures (nicotine-induced seizures) in rodents. Treatment of animals with nicotine (1-4 mg/kg, i.p.) produced motor excitement in a dose-dependent manner resulting in convulsive seizures at 3 and 4 mg/kg. The nicotine-induced seizures were abolished by a subtype non-selective nACh antagonist, mecamylamine (MEC), an α7 nACh antagonist, methyllycaconitine, also significantly inhibited nicotine-induced seizures, whereas an $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh antagonist, dihydro- β -erythroidine, affected only nominally. Topographical analysis of Fos protein expression, a biological marker of neural excitation, revealed that a convulsive dose (4 mg/kg) of nicotine regionspecifically activated neurons in the piriform cortex, amygdala, medial habenula, paratenial thalamus, anterior hypothalamus and solitary nucleus among 48 brain regions examined, and this was also suppressed by MEC. Furthermore, electric lesioning of the amygdala, but not the piriform cortex, medial habenula and thalamus, specifically inhibited nicotine-induced seizures. In addition, microinjection of nicotine (100 and 300 µg/side) into the amygdala elicited convulsive seizures in a dose-related manner. Our findings strongly suggest that nicotine elicits convulsive seizures by activating amygdala neurons mainly via α 7 nACh receptors. In addition, we also succeeded in characterizing the drug action, the NMDA receptor stimulant D-cycloserine, in modulating extrapyramidal motor disorders, using the Fos expression analysis.

Keywords: nicotine, convulsive seizures, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, amygdala, Fos protein expression.

TABLE LIST

Table 1: Local expression of nACh receptor subtypes in the brainof human and rodents.

FIGURES LIST

Figure 1: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors resume.	45
Figure 2: The two main neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors subtypes.	46
Figure 3: Illustration of main neuronal signal transduction pathways for Fos expression.	47
Figure 4: Experimental protocols for induction of convulsive seizures using nicotine	48
Figure 5: Dose-response effects of nicotine on convulsive seizure induction in rodents.	49

44

Figure 6: Effects of nACh antagonists in the nicotine-induced convulsive seizures in mice.	50
Figure 7: Schematic illustrations of the brain sections selected for quantitative analysis of Fos expression.	51
Figure 8: Effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on Fos expression in cortical regions in mice	52
Figure 9: Effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on Fos expression in limbic and basal ganglia regions in mice.	53
Figure 10: Effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on Fos expression in diencephalic and brainstem regions in mice.	54
Figure 11: Immunohistochemical analysis of Fos protein immunoreactivity.	55
Figure 12: Effects of MEC on nicotine-induced Fos expression in mice.	56
Figure 13: Effects of electrical lesionings of the amygdala (AMG) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats.	57
Figure 14: Effects of electrical lesionings of the piriform cortex (PirC) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats.	58

Figure 15: Effects of electrical lesionings of the thalamus (Th) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats.	59
Figure 16: Effects of electrical lesionings of the medial habenula (MHb) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats.	60
Figure 17: Effects of nicotine microinjected into the amygdala (AMG) on convulsive seizure induction in rats.	61
Figure 18: Schematic illustration of the mechanism of convulsive seizures induction by nicotine.	62
Figure 19: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)- induced bradykinesia.	63
Figure 20: Immunohistochemical analysis of Fos protein immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral striatum (dlST) and accumbens shell (AcS).	64
Figure 21: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)- induced Fos expression in the dorsolateral striatum (dIST).	65
Figure 22: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)- induced Fos expression in the accumbens shell (AcS).	66

ABREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AcC: core region of nucleus accumbens

- AcS: shell region of nucleus accumbens
- ADNFLE: autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy

AH: anterior hypothalamus

AIC: agranular insular cortex

AM: anteromedial thalamic nucleus

AMG: amygdala

Apir: amygdalopiriform transition area

AuC: auditory cortex

BLP: basolateral amygdaloid nucleus

BMP: basomedial amygdaloid nucleus

CA: Cornu Ammonis area of hippocampus

CgC: cingulated cortex

CM: centromedial thalamic nucleus

DCS: D-Cycloserine

DG: dentate gyrus of the hippocampus

DHβE: dihydro-beta-erythroidine

DLEnt: dorsolateral entorhinal cortex

dlST: dorsolateral striatum

DM: dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus

dmST: dorsomedial striatum

EPS: Extrapyramidal side effects

GP: globus pallidus

HAL: Haloperidol

IHC: Immunohistochemical

IO: inferior olive

IR: Immunoreactivity

LHb: lateral habenular nucleus

L-NAME: L-NG-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester

LS: lateral septum

MC: motor cortex

MEC: mecamylamine

MePD: medial posterodorsal amygdaloid nucleus

MePV: medial posteroventral amygdaloid nucleus

MHb: medial habenular nucleus

MLA: methyllycaconitine

mPFC: medial prefrontal cortex

nACh: nicotinic acetylcholine

NMDA: N-Methyl-D-aspartate

NOS: Nitric oxide synthase

PH: posterior hypothalamus

PirC: piriform cortex

PMCo: posteromedial cortical amygdaloid nucleus

PRh-Ect: perirhinal-ectorhinal cortex

PT: paratenial thalamic nucleus

PV: paraventricular thalamic nucleus

RPC: parvocellular part of the red nucleus

SC: sensory cortex

SNc: substantia nigra pars compacta

SNr: substantia nigra pars reticulata

Sol: solitary tract

VM: ventromedial thalamic nucleus

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.]	INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES	1
1.1	SEIZURES	1
1.2	NICOTINIC ACETYLCHOLINE RECEPTORS	1
1.2.1	1 POTENTIAL ROLE OF NACH RECEPTORS IN EPILEPTIC SEIZURES	2
1.3	FOS PROTEIN	3
1.4	O BJECTIVES OF THE STUDIES	3
2]	PHARMACOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANISMS U	J NDERLYING
SEI	IZURE INDUCTION MEDIATED BY NACH RECEPTORS	4
2.1	INTRODUCTION	4
2.2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	6
2.2.1	1 EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS	6
2.2.2	2 BEHAVIORAL EVALUATION	6
2.2.3	3 ANALYSIS OF FOS PROTEIN EXPRESSION	7
2.2.4	4 ELECTRICAL LESION STUDY	8
2.2.5	5 MICROINJECTION STUDY	8
2.2.6	6 DRUGS	9
2.2.7	7 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	9
2.3	RESULTS	10
2.3.1	1 NICOTINE-INDUCED CONVULSIVE SEIZURES	10
2.3.2	2 NICOTINE-INDUCED FOS EXPRESSION	11
2.3.3	3 ELECTRICAL LESION STUDIES	12
2.3.4	4 MICROINJECTION	12
2.4	DISCUSSION	13

3	PHARMACOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANISMS UNDERLYING THE
GL	YCINE-BINDING SITE STIMULANT OF NMDA RECEPTOR-INDUCED
AL	LEVIATION OF EXTRAPYRAMIDAL DISORDERS USING FOS EXPRESSION
AN	ALYSIS 16
3.1	INTRODUCTION16
3.2	MATERIALS AND METHODS 18
3.2.	1 ANIMALS
3.2.	2 EVALUATION OF BRADYKINESIA19
3.2.	3 ANALYSIS OF FOS PROTEIN EXPRESSION
3.2.	4 DRUGS
3.2.	5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS20
3.3	R ESULTS
3.4	DISCUSSION
4	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS23
5	REFERENCES

1. Introduction and objectives

1.1 Seizures

Seizures are a transitory alteration of an abnormal, excessive and synchronized cerebral activity that can result or not in motor symptoms¹⁾, a recent recommendation of the International League Against the Epilepsy suggest to classify seizures according to the seizure onset, basically in focal, generalized and unknown onset^{1, 2)}. Convulsive seizures can also be divided into "symptomatic" seizures associated with a brain injury or a metabolic/toxic disturbance of brain function (fever, head injury, brain infection, proconvulsive drugs like baclofen, clozapine), and "idiopathic" seizures with unknown cause^{2, 3)}. Although idiopathic seizures are the main cause of the epilepsy, symptomatic seizures do not necessarily mean epilepsy, still there is a risk of subsequent epilepsy after symptomatic seizures according to the damage extension (e.g., reversible disturbances $\leq 3\%$ and brain abscesses $\geq 10\%$)⁴⁾.

1.2 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors

The pentameric ligand-gated cation channel nicotinic acetylcholine (nACh) receptors are composed of varying combinations of α (α 1– α 10), β (β 1– β 4) and other (δ , γ , ε) subunits⁵⁻⁷⁾, these subunits assemble with different stoichiometry to form nACh receptors with different properties, including distinct cationic permeability, agonist affinity and desensitization properties⁶⁾ (Figure 1). Specifically, neural nACh receptor subtypes are constructed from combination of 9 α (α 2– α 10) and 3 β (β 2– β 4) subunits. Among them, homomeric α 7 and heteromeric $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors are the most characterized and expressed subtypes in the brain (Figure 2) whereas $\alpha 3\beta 4$ nACh receptors mainly function as peripheral ganglionic nACh receptors⁵⁻⁹. In the brain, nACh receptors control neuronal excitability and neurotransmitters release (GABA, dopamine, glutamate)¹⁰. Consequently, nACh receptors are responsible for regulating cognitive performance, vigilance, locomotor activity, body temperature, respiration, cardiovascular and gastrointestinal tract function, electroencephalographic activity, cortical blood flow and pain perception (for detailed information on the function of neural nACh receptors consult Lloyd and Williams ¹¹).

1.2.1 Potential role of nACh receptors in epileptic seizures

Intoxication with nicotine, an exogenous nACh receptor agonist, evokes motor excitement including tremors and convulsive seizures in humans^{12, 13)} and experimental animal models^{14, 15)}. In addition, nACh receptors are the first ion channels dysfunction reported to be involved in genetic epilepsies^{16, 17)}. Indeed, genetic polymorphisms of $\alpha 4$, $\beta 2$ and/or $\alpha 7$ subunits of nACh receptors are involved in various epileptic disorders, including idiopathic generalized epilepsy (e.g., epilepsy with generalized tonic-clonic seizures and juvenile myoclonic epilepsy)¹⁸⁻²²⁾ and partial epilepsy (e.g., autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy and benign epilepsy of childhood with centrotemporal spikes)^{17, 23-25)}. Therefore, nACh receptors could be involved in both "symptomatic" and "idiopathic" seizures, however, the role and mechanisms of nACh receptors in seizure generation and epileptogenesis are still unknown.

1.3 Fos protein

With regard to obtaining new information about the mechanism by which nACh receptors cause convulsive seizures, we decided to investigate which brain regions nACh receptors would be activate to cause convulsive seizures. For this purpose Fos protein, an immediate early gene product, can be used as a biological marker of neural excitation²⁶. Fos protein expression occurs region-specifically and reproducibly with various other stimuli; detection of Fos expression is simple; the immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of Fos can also be applicable to double staining with other proteins, tracers and neurotransmitters; and the function of Fos is established as a part of the transcription factor activator protein 1 (AP-1; Figure 3). Hence, IHC mapping analysis of Fos expression is a useful method to identify brain regions affected by pathologies (e.g., emotional disorders, epilepsy and pain) and by various drug treatments²⁶⁻³⁰ without the necessity to measure others metabolites (e.g., glucose usage)³¹⁾. As a matter of fact, Fos expression applicability in neuroscience has lead me to study and acquire expertise on the subject. The result of this experience was transliterated in a book chapter about Fos protein expressional mechanism and neuroscience application ²⁶.

1.4 Objectives of the studies

The primary purpose of the present study is to delineate the mechanisms of how stimulation of nACh receptors by nicotine result in convulsive seizures (nicotine-induced seizures) in rodents. Specifically, IHC analysis of Fos expression were performed in combination with behavioral studies to determine the seizure foci of nicotine-induced seizures. In addition, we also tried to characterize the drug action, the NMDA receptor stimulant D-cycloserine, in modulating extrapyramidal motor disorders by using the Fos expression analysis as the second part of the experiments.

2 Pharmacological analysis of the mechanisms underlying seizure induction mediated by nACh receptors

2.1 Introduction

Nicotine, an alkaloid derived from leaves of *Nicotinia species*, is the primary active compound of tobacco products ³². Nicotine acts as an exogenous agonist of nACh receptors causing a series of pharmacological actions including antidepressant effects^{33, 34}, cognitive enhancement^{35, 36}, positive reinforcement (addictive effects)^{35, 37}) and motor excitement^{15, 36}, ^{38, 39}. Acute intoxication with nicotine shows two phases of symptoms; early phase symptoms including nausea, vomiting, headache, tremors and seizures^{13-15, 40-44}, and delayed phase symptoms including CNS depression and coma^{44, 45}. Nicotine evoked symptoms are mediated by nACh receptors. In the nervous system the neural homomeric α 7 and heteromeric α 4 β 2, whereas α 3 β 4 nACh receptor in the peripheral ganglia⁵⁻⁹. The two main neural nACh receptor subtypes α 4 β 2 and α 7 nACh receptors are widely expressed in the CNS (Table 1) at the synapse (both pre- and postsynaptically) and extrasynaptically^{5, 9, 46-48}, both subtypes diverge around a higher affinity of its nicotine binding site (α 4 β 2 nACh receptors)⁹ and a higher calcium permeability (α 7 nACh receptors)⁴⁹. Therefore, while α 4 β 2 nACh receptors respond for most actions induced by nicotine (\approx 90%)⁵⁰, α 7 nACh receptors modulate intracellular signaling and neurotransmitter release⁴⁹.

~ 4 ~

In particular, motor excitement symptoms evoked by nicotine include Straub tail, tremors and convulsive seizures^{15, 36, 38, 51, 52)}, suggesting the involvement of nACh receptors in the pathogenesis of epileptic and movement disorders. Indeed, genetic polymorphisms of α 4, β 2 and/or α 7 subunits of nACh receptors are involved in various epilepticus disorders, including idiopathic generalized epilepsy (e.g., epilepsy with generalized tonic-clonic seizures, childhood absence epilepsy, juvenile absence epilepsy and juvenile myoclonic epilepsy)^{18-²²⁾ and partial epilepsy (e.g., autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy and benign epilepsy of childhood with centrotemporal spikes^{17, 23-25)}. On the other hand, especially after the relatively recent findings that not only loss-of-function mutations in nACh receptors^{19, ^{53, 54)} are involved in the seizures generation, but also gain-of-function⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷⁾, it has become clear that little is known about the mechanism of how neural nACh receptors modulate seizures and epileptogenesis.}}

The functional mechanism of neural nACh receptors is very complex, each nACh receptor subtype composition affects the nACh receptor channel permeability and kinetics, whereas the localization in the neural network determines the precise contribution of a given nACh receptor population in a spatial- and time-dependent manner⁵⁸⁾. Nicotine is useful as a potential tool for understanding of the underlying mechanisms of nACh receptors in inducing motor impairments, as recently demonstrated by our research group^{59, 60)}. Fos protein, an immediate early gene product, as a biological marker of neural activation is widely used for mapping brain regions related to disease conditions (e.g., pain, epilepsy, and emotional disorders) and biological interactions of various drug treatments^{26, 27, 29, 30)}. In the present study, hence, we applied behavioral and Fos-IHC studies to delineate the mechanism underlying nicotine-induced seizures in rodents.

2.2 Materials and methods

The experimental protocols hereby were approved by the Experimental Animal Research Committee at Osaka University of Pharmaceutical Sciences.

2.2.1 Experimental animals

Male ddY mice (Japan SLC, Shizuoka, Japan) weighing 25–35 g and male SD rats (Japan SLC, Shizuoka, Japan) weighting 200-300 g were used. The animals were kept in airconditioned rooms under a 12-h light/dark cycle (light on: 8:00 a.m.) and allowed *ad libitum* access to food and water. The housing conditions and the animal care methods complied with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan.

2.2.2 Behavioral evaluation

Animals were intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected with nicotine (1-4 mg/kg) or saline (vehicle) and individually placed in an observation box ($25 \times 42 \times 20$ cm). Nicotine-induced behavioral excitement was evaluated over 15 minutes after the nicotine injection using a modified six point-ranked score (0: no effect; 1: mild head tremor and Straub tail; 2: apparent tremors in extended regions, 3: severe tremors with wild running; 4: clonic seizures; 5: tonic or tonic-clonic seizures)^{59, 61}. Incidence of convulsive seizures was judged as positive when scores were higher than 3 (Figure 4A). In the experiments using nACh receptor antagonists, a subtype non-selective nACh antagonist, MEC (1 mg/kg), a specific α 7 nACh antagonist,

~ 6 ~

MLA (10 mg/kg), a specific $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh antagonist, DH βE (5 mg/kg) or saline (vehicle) was i.p. administered 15 min before the nicotine treatment (Figure 4A). The dosage of nACh antagonists was set to a sufficient level to antagonize its respective nACh receptor in previous studies [MEC: Gomita, et al. ⁶², DH βE : Blondel, et al. ⁶³, and MLA: Blondel, et al. ⁶³, Liu ⁶⁴ and Kim, et al. ⁶⁵].

2.2.3 Analysis of Fos protein expression

Staining for Fos-immunoreactivity (IR) followed previously published methods^{26, 28, 30)}. Briefly, ddY mice were treated with a convulsive dose (4 mg/kg, i.p.) of nicotine and brain samples were obtained 120 min after the nicotine injection under pentobarbital (80 mg/kg, i.p.) anesthesia. In some experiments, mice were pretreated with MEC (1 mg/kg) 15 min before the nicotine injection. All animals were transcardially perfused with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), which was followed by 4% formaldehyde perfusion, following brains were stored in fresh fixative for at least 24 h. Following, coronal brain sections of 30 µm thickness were cut using a Microslicer (DSK-3000, Dosaka, Kyoto, Japan). Slices were incubated for 2 hours in the presence of 2% normal rabbit serum solution, and with goat c-Fos antiserum for an additional 18–36 hours. After PBS washing, the sections were then incubated with biotinylated rabbit anti-goat IgG for 2 hours and with PBS containing 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 min to inactivate the endogenous peroxidase. Thereafter, the sections were incubated with avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase complex for 2 hours. Fos-IR was visualized by the diaminobenzidine-nickel staining method and quantified by counting the number of Fos-IR positive nuclei in 48 regions⁶⁶, (1) the cerebral cortices (19 regions), mPFC, CgC, MC (1-4), SC (1-4), AIC, PirC (1-4), Apir, AuC, PRh-Ect and DLEnt, (2) the limbic regions and basal ganglia (14 regions), AcC, AcS, BLP,

~ 7 ~

BMP, PMCo, MePV, MePD, CA1, CA3, DG, dlST, dmST, GP and LS, (3) the diencephalic and lower brainstem regions (15 regions), MHb, LHb, PT, PV, AM, CM, VM, AH, PH, DM, RPC, SNr, SNc, Sol and IO.

2.2.4 Electrical lesion study

Electrical lesion studies were performed using SD rats as reported previously^{59, 67)}. Briefly, animals were anesthetized with pentobarbital (60 mg/kg, i.p.) and fixed in a stereotaxic frame (Narishige, SR-6, Tokyo, Japan). A bipolar concentric electrode was bilaterally inserted into the thalamus (Th; A: -1.5 mm; L: ± 0.4 mm; H: +4.2 mm); PirC (A: +1.3 mm; L: ± 4.3 mm; H: +7.2 mm), MHb (A: +0.4 mm; L: ± 0.4 mm; H: +4 mm); or amygdala (AMG; A: -3.1 mm; L: ± 4 mm; H: +7.9 mm)⁶⁸⁾; and a direct current of 1 mA was delivered to the respective region for 15 s. After a recovery period (2-4 days) from the surgery, animals were treated with nicotine (4 mg/kg) or vehicle, individually placed in the observation box and underwent behavioral evaluation as described previously. After the experiments, the animals were deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital (80 mg/kg, i.p.) and the brain was removed from the skull in order to confirm each electrical lesion placement (Figure 4B).

2.2.5 Microinjection study

Microinjection studies were performed using SD rats as reported previously⁶⁹⁻⁷¹⁾. After the animals were fixed in a stereotaxic instrument under pentobarbital (40 mg/kg, i.p.) anesthesia, a stainless steel guide cannula was bilaterally inserted 1 mm above the AMG (A: -3.1 mm; L: ± 4 mm; H: ± 7.9 mm)⁶⁸⁾ and fixed on the skull with dental cement. After a recovery period (2–4 days), an injection cannula was inserted into the AMG through a guide cannula and nicotine (100 or 300 μ g/ μ L per side) was injected at a flow rate of 0.25 μ L/min (Microinfusion pump KDS220; KD Scientific Inc., USA) for 4 min under freely moving conditions. The control animals were given the same volume of saline (vehicle) alone. Nicotine-induced behavioral excitement was evaluated as previously described using a six point-ranked score. After the experiment animals were deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital (80 mg/kg, i.p.), and their brains removed for subsequent guide cannula insertion site verification (Figure 4C).

2.2.6 Drugs

For the preparation of the experimental doses of nicotine (1, 2, 3 and 4 mg/kg, i.p.) a stock solution was prepared using 5 mg/mL (-)–nicotine solved in normal saline solution. Stock solution was diluted in saline to obtain, respectively, 0.05, 0.1, 0.6 and 0.8 mg/mL solutions. Experimental dose of MEC (1 mg/kg) was made from diluting MEC stock solution of 5 mg of MEC in 1 mL of 1% lactated saline solution in saline so 0.2 mg/mL MEC solution was attained. MLA and DHβE was directly diluted in saline (vehicle solution).

Nicotine, MEC hydrochloride, MLA citrate and DAB substrate were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) and DHβE hydrobromide from Tocris (Bristol, UK). The primary antibody against c-Fos was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (sc-52-G-Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and the secondary biotinylated anti-goat IgG antibody and ABC kit from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA). Others common laboratory reagents were also obtained from commercial sources.

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

~ 9 ~

Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance of differences among multiple groups was determined by Kruskal—Wallis test followed by the Steel—Dwass post-hoc test (behavioral scores) or one-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey's post-hoc test (Fos expression). Comparisons between two groups were determined by parametric Student's t-test (Fos expression) or non-parametric Mann-Whitney's U test (electrical lesion). Comparisons of the seizure incidence rate were done by χ^2 test. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Nicotine-induced convulsive seizures

Nicotine at doses from 1 to 4 mg/kg (i.p.) dose-dependently induced motor excitement in mice and rats, inducing Straub tail and tremor (score 1-3) at low doses (e.g., 1-2 mg/kg, i.p.) and convulsive seizures (score 4-5) at high doses (e.g., 3-4 mg/kg, i.p., Figure 5A, 5B). Nicotine-induced motor excitement including seizures was normally transient and subsided within 10 min. The percentages of animals which showed clonic or tonic-clonic seizures with nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) were 82% and 62.5% in mice and rats, respectively (Figure 5A, 5B).

To clarify the role of nACh receptors subtypes in nicotine-induced seizures, we tested the actions of nACh antagonists in mice. Pretreatment of animals with the subtype non-selective MEC (1 mg/kg, i.p.) markedly reduced the seizure intensity and incidence rate due to nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.). The α 7 nACh antagonist MLA (10 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly

inhibited nicotine-induced seizures whereas the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh antagonist DH βE (5 mg/kg, i.p.) only slightly reduced the seizure intensity and incidence (Figure 6). We also tried co-administration of DH βE and MLA in order to clarify how much of nicotine-induced seizures can be attributed to $\alpha 7$ and $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors, although, all animals died by what seems to be peripheral respiratory failure (non-published data).

2.3.2 Nicotine-induced Fos expression

Using topographical analysis of Fos protein we explored brain regions excited with nicotine-induced seizures, a biological marker of neural excitation, in mice. Treatment of animals with nicotine at convulsive dose (4 mg/kg, i.p.) caused region-specific elevation of Fos expression in 8 out 48 brain verified regions (Figure 7). In the 19 cortical regions, nicotine increased the Fos expression in the PirC2 [t(7) = 2.385, P = 0.050], PirC4 [t(12) = 4.783, P < 0.001] and APir [t(10) = 3.470, P = 0.013] (Figure 8, 11). In the 29 subcortical regions, nicotine significantly enhanced Fos expression in the AMG (Figure 9, 11), MHb [t(5) = 3.982, P = 0.010], PT [t(6) = 2.882, P = 0.027), AH [t(10) = 2.397, P = 0.037] and in Sol [t(5) = 3.121, P=0.025] (Figure 10, 11). In the AMG, all investigated regions presented considerably high Fos expression (about two to four times the control level) after nicotine treatment, while it reached statistical significance only in the MePD [t(6) = 2.439, P = 0.048] (Figure 9, 11). Along with the hippocampus, other brain regions like striatum, GP, substantia nigra, did not show any significant changes in Fos expression (Figure 7).

In further analysis, to confirm the involvement of nACh receptors, we assessed the effects of MEC on nicotine-induced Fos expression in the above seven brain regions (e.g., PirC2, PirC4, Apir, MePD, MHb, PT and Sol). We confirmed that nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly augmented Fos expression in the PirC2 [F(2,21) = 15.880, P < 0.001], PirC4

~ 11 ~

[F(2,23) = 7.498, P < 0.003], MePD [F(2,20) = 7.771, P < 0.003], MHb [F(2,25) = 86.928, P < 0.001], PT [F(2,20) = 16.097, P < 0.001] and Sol [F(2,21) = 35,564, P < 0.001]. The nicotine-induced Fos expression was mostly abolished by MEC [PirC2, F(2,21) = 15.880, P = 0.004, PirC4, F(2,23) = 7.498, P = 0.027; MePD, F(2,20) = 7.771, P = 0.026; MHb, F(2.25) = 86.928, P < 0.001; PT, F(2,20) = 16.097, P = 0.001; and Sol, F(2,24) = 35.564, P < 0.001] (Figure 12), indicating that nicotine-induced Fos expression is mediated mainly by nACh receptors in these brain regions.

2.3.3 Electrical lesion studies

To determine the brain regions responsible for the generation of nicotine seizures, we next conducted electrical lesion studies of the sites which showed high Fos expression with nicotine in rats. Animals received electrical lesioning at the bilateral PirC, Th, MHb and MePD and AMG 2-4 days before nicotine seizure induction test. Under these conditions, only the lesion of the AMG noticeably reduced the intensity [U(8) = 3.000, P = 0.028] and the incidence ($\chi^2 = 0.225$, P = 0.009) of nicotine-induced seizures (Figure 13). In contrast, neither lesioning of PirC (Figure 14), Th (Figure 15) nor MHb (Figure 16) affected the seizure induction, suggesting that the AMG is responsible for nicotine seizures generation.

2.3.4 Microinjection

To further confirm the causative role of the AMG in nicotine-induced seizures, we performed a microinjection study with nicotine into the AMG. Under freely moving conditions, 100 and 300 μ g/side of nicotine were injected into the bilateral AMG. Nicotine

caused motor excitement (100 µg/side; $\chi^2 = 13.602$, df = 2, P = 0.0136, 300 µg/side; $\chi^2 = 13.602$, df = 2, P = 0.005) and seizure generation (300 µg/side; $\chi^2 = 5.76$, P = 0.016) in a dose-related manner (Figure 17). Reinforcing the role of AMG nACh receptors in the causation of nicotine-induced seizures.

2.4 Discussion

Nicotine has proconvulsive actions when overdosed, reports showing the convulsive action of nicotine in both humans and experimental animals are not $uncommon^{12, 44, 72}$. Likewise, we confirmed that nicotine dose-dependently caused convulsive seizures in rodents (ddY mice and SD rats). The dosage (3-4 mg/kg, i.p.) of nicotine that caused convulsions was similar to those in previous reports^{15, 73} where various mouse strains were evaluated for nicotine-induced seizure sensitivity (more sensitive ST/bj mice ED₅₀ = 2.34 mg/kg, i.p. and less sensitive DB mice ED₅₀ = 6.16 mg/kg, i.p.).

Several studies suggest that the proconvulsive action of nicotine is mediated by α 7 nACh receptors⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶, although the involvement of nACh receptors subtypes in nicotine-induced seizures are still uncertain. Here, nicotine-induced seizures were completely blocked by MEC, illustrating nACh receptor mediation. In addition, MLA (α 7 nACh antagonist) was considerably more potent than DH β E (α 4 β 2 nACh antagonist) in inhibiting nicotine-induced seizures. These results are consistent with previous studies⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ and suggest that α 7 nACh receptors play a major role in inducing nicotine seizures. We have previously reported that kinetic tremors induced by a low dose (1 mg/kg, i.p.) of nicotine are mediated by α 7 nACh receptors, whereas α 4 β 2 nACh receptors are negligibly involved in tremor induction⁵⁹. Therefore, α 7 nACh receptors are likely to play a key role in producing motor excitations (e.g., tremor and seizure generation) with nicotine. However, we cannot completely deny a

possibility that $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors are partly involved in nicotine-induced seizures since DH β E slightly reduced the seizure induction, which is consistent with the previous finding that i.c.v. injection of DH β E reduced nicotine seizures by about 15%⁷⁴. Actually, in an attempt to verify the complementary role of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors in nicotine-induced seizures we co-administrated MLA and DH β E before the nicotine treatment, unfortunately, all animals died of what seemed to be peripheral respiratory failure. Since, we used the same concentrations when treating with only MLA or DH β E, this mortality can only be explained by a potentiation in the toxic actions of the DH β E⁷⁷⁾ and MLA⁷⁸⁾.

Fos protein expression is widely used as a marker of neural activation to explore the brain regions linked to disease conditions (e.g., epilepsy, essential tremors) and drug responses²⁶⁻ ^{28, 30, 79-84)}. We previously demonstrated that a low dose (1 mg/kg, i.p.) of nicotine, which reportedly induces cognitive enhancement⁵¹), antidepressant effects^{33, 85}) and positive reinforcement³⁷⁾, as well as kinetic tremor⁵⁹⁾, region-specifically elevated Fos expression in four brain regions; the PirC, MHb, Sol and IO. In the present study, a convulsive dose (4 mg/kg, i.p.) of nicotine further increased Fos expression in extended regions, the AMG and parts of the diencephalon (thalamus and hypothalamus). Thus, these regions excited by nicotine seemed to be related to seizure induction. In addition, the electrical lesion study revealed that only the AMG lesion, but not the PirC, Th, or MHb lesions, suppressed nicotine-induced seizures, suggesting that the AMG is the causative site for the induction of nicotine seizures. This possibility was further supported by the fact that microinjected nicotine into the AMG elicited convulsive seizures. The AMG is well known to be involved in seizure generation and epileptogenesis⁸⁶⁻⁸⁹⁾. In addition, previous *in situ* hybridization and autoradiography studies revealed that in the AMG α 7 and α 4 β 2 nACh receptors highly expressed⁸⁾ what could explain the participation of both α 7 and α 4 β 2 receptors in nicotineinduced seizures^{8, 90-100} (Table 1), studies using mice and brain slices^{92, 101} and neuronal cell cultures^{101, 102)}, show the direct activation of nicotine and acetylcholine in the amygdala α 7

nACh receptors resulting mostly in the facilitation of glutamatergic transmission (60-40%) ^{92, 101, 102)}, while a small proportion resulted in GABAergic (20%), and both glutamatergic and GABAergic (17%) ¹⁰²⁾. Therefore, it is most likely that the AMG, especially the medial AMG (e.g., MePD), is the primary foci of seizure generation by nicotine. However, we cannot limit the causative site to the medial AMG since other amygdaloid nuclei (e.g., BLP and BMP) also showed considerably high Fos expression with nicotine and are known to receive dense cholinergic input from the basal forebrain^{24, 103, 104)}.

Although genetic polymorphisms of the gene (CHRNA7) encoding the α 7 nACh receptor subunit are known to be involved in various epileptic disorders in humans, including idiopathic generalized epilepsy, childhood absence epilepsy, juvenile myoclonic epilepsy and benign epilepsy of childhood with centrotemporal spikes¹⁸⁻²¹, the functional role and mechanisms of a7 nACh receptors in modulating seizure generation and/or epileptogenesis are still unknown. A line of studies showed that microdeletion of chromosome 15q13.3 including CHRNA7 causes severe mental retardation, seizures and facial and/or digital dysmorphisms. This evidence implies that α 7 nACh receptors are involved in the pathogenesis of mental illness (e.g., autism and schizophrenia) and negatively regulate seizure generation^{19, 53, 54)}. Nonetheless, the present results suggest that excessive stimulation of α7 nACh receptors elicits convulsive seizures by activating the AMG neurons, which are implicated in seizure generation not only due to nicotine intoxication, but also that caused by epileptic diseases. Concomitantly, gain-of-function mutation and/or copy number polymorphism (e.g., duplication and triplication) of CHRNA7 are associated with epileptic disorders. Indeed, patients with duplication and triplication of CHRNA7 (15q13.3 gains) have been shown to exhibit neuropsychiatric phenotypes including epileptic seizures^{56, 57,} ¹⁰⁵⁾. Further studies are required to delineate the role and clinical relevance of the α 7 nACh receptor in the pathogenesis of epileptic disorders.

In conclusion, we performed behavioral and Fos-IHC studies in rodents to clarify the mechanisms underlying nicotine-induced seizures. Treatment of animals with nicotine produced motor excitement and elicited convulsive seizures at 3 and 4 mg/kg. MEC and an α 7 nACh antagonist, MLA, effectively blocked the nicotine seizures, but a α 4 β 2 nACh antagonist, DH β E, did so only nominally. In addition, Fos expression analysis revealed that a convulsive dose (4 mg/kg) of nicotine region-specifically activated neurons in the PirC, AMG, MHb, PT, AH and Sol, among which electric lesioning of the AMG specifically inhibited nicotine seizures in a dose-related manner. The present results strongly suggest that nicotine elicits convulsive seizures by activating AMG neurons primarily via α 7 nACh receptors (Figure 18).

3 Pharmacological analysis of the mechanisms underlying the glycinebinding site stimulant of NMDA receptor-induced alleviation of extrapyramidal disorders using Fos expression analysis

3.1 Introduction

Schizophrenia is a complex disorder with diverse psychotic symptoms including positive (e.g., hallucinations, delusion) and negative (e.g., apathy, alogia) symptoms, neurocognitive impairments, and mood disturbances¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹³⁾. A hyperactive meso-limbic dopaminergic system is well-known to be related to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (dopamine hypothesis)¹¹⁴⁾, accordingly numerous first-generation antipsychotics, which commonly antagonize dopamine D_2 receptors, have been developed^{113, 115, 116)}. These agents effectively

~ 16 ~

improve positive symptoms (e.g., hallucination, delusion, and excitement) in patients with schizophrenia through dopamine D_2 receptor blockade in the limbic regions (e.g., nucleus accumbens)¹¹⁶. However, they frequently induce extrapyramidal side effects (EPS) by blocking dopamine D_2 receptors in the basal ganglia (e.g., striatum)¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹. EPS include acute dystonia (sustained abnormal postures and muscles spasms, especially of the head or neck), akathisia (restlessness and pacing), Parkinsonism (tremor, skeletal muscle rigidity, and/or bradykinesia) and tardive dyskinesia (involuntary, repetitive facial, torso and limb movements)^{117, 120}. EPS are serious, sometimes debilitating and one of the main causes of poor adherence to antipsychotic treatment^{121, 122}.

The assembling of the GluN1 and GluN2 subunits containing D-serine/glycine- and glutamate-binding sites, respectively, constitute the heteromeric tetrameric receptor N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)^{123, 124)}. Along with the D-serine/glycine- and glutamate-binding sites, they also possess several regulatory sites sensitive to polyamines, Zn²⁺, protons, and glutathione^{123, 125)}. Dysfunctions of NMDA receptors are also suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (glutamate hypothesis)¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸⁾. The glutamate hypothesis was derived from evidences showing that NMDA receptor blockers including phencyclidine (PCP) and dizocilpine (MK-801) cause schizophrenia-like psychosis in human^{126, 129-131)}. Consequently, the glutamate hypothesis in schizophrenia encourages the development of new medication for schizophrenia using several agents (e.g., D-cycloserine (DCS), D-serine, and sodium benzoate)^{127, 128, 132, 133)}, though their actions regarding the induction and/or modulation of EPS still require clarification.

As described in the section 1.3, Fos expression analysis has been shown to be useful to explore the mechanism of many psychostimulants and psychotropic agents including morphine^{134, 135}, caffeine^{136, 137} and antidepressants¹³⁸. Specifically, since dopamine D₂ receptors are known to tonically suppress Fos expression in the ST (caudate nucleus and putamen) and the nucleus accumbens (AcC, AcS) ST^{83, 139-144}. Consequently, blockade of

~ 17 ~

the dopamine D_2 receptors activities by first generation antipsychotic agents (e.g., haloperidol [HAL]) results in elevation of the Fos expression in these structures^{83, 141, 143, 145, 146)}, however, second generation antipsychotics (e.g., blonanserin) increase in the Fos expression are more focused in the AcS than the $ST^{140, 142-146)}$. Therefore, the comparison of antipsychotic-induced Fos expression between the AcS and dorsal ST has been used to differentiate the second generation antipsychotics alleviation of motor side effects from the first generation ones. Thus, we employed behavioral and striatal Fos-IHC in order to evaluate the effects of D-cycloserine, a glycine-binding site stimulant of NMDA receptors, on antipsychotic-induced EPS (i.e., bradykinesia).

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Animals

Male ddY mice (Japan SLC, Shizuoka, Japan) at 8–10 weeks of age were used. Animals were kept in air-conditioned rooms ($24 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and $50 \pm 10\%$ relative humidity) under a 12-h light/dark cycle (light on: 8:00–20:00) and allowed free access to food and water. Animal care methods complied with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, and experimental protocols were approved by the Experimental Animal Research Committee at Osaka University of Pharmaceutical Sciences (#17, 30 March 2015).

3.2.2 Evaluation of Bradykinesia

The pole test was performed as described previously by Shimizu, et al. ⁶⁹⁾. Mice were placed at the top (head-upward) of a pole (diameter: 8 mm and height: 45 cm). The time for the animal to rotate downward (T_{turn}) and descend to the floor (T_{total}) was then measured with a cut-off time of 90 s. Only mice that showed $T_{turn} < 8$ s and $T_{total} < 18$ s in the pre-test trial (typically performed 2 h before the test trial) were used.

The glycine-site stimulant of NMDA receptors DCS (3–30 mg/kg, i.p.) was administered to animals 15 min before the HAL or vehicle injection, and the pole test was performed 30 min later.

3.2.3 Analysis of Fos Protein Expression

Regarding Fos immunohistochemical staining, brain samples were obtained from mice 120 min after the HAL injection. Under pentobarbital (80 mg/kg, i.p.) anesthesia, all mice were transcardially perfused with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), which was followed by 4% formaldehyde perfusion. Brains were removed from the skull and stored in fresh fixative for at least 24 h. Fos immunohistochemical staining was performed using previously reported methods^{26, 84, 147)}. Coronal sections (thickness: 30 µm) were cut from the brain using a Microslicer (DSK-3000, Dosaka, Kyoto, Japan). Slices were incubated for 2 h with 2% normal rabbit serum, and with goat c-Fos antiserum for an additional 18–36 h. Sections were then incubated with a biotinylated rabbit anti-goat IgG secondary antibody for 2 h. After a 30 min incubation with 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 min to inactivate endogenous peroxidase, sections were incubated for 2 h with an avidin–biotinylated horseradish peroxidase complex. Fos-IR was visualized using the diaminobenzidine–nickel staining method and quantified by counting the number of Fos-IR positive nuclei in dIST and AcS.

3.2.4 Drugs

HAL and DCS were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). The primary antibody against c-Fos were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA, USA), the Vectastain ABC kit, DAB substrate and the secondary biotinylated anti-goat IgG antibody were purchased from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA) and others common laboratory reagents were also obtained from commercial sources.

HAL was dissolved in 1% lactate solution and then diluted with physiological saline. Other agents were dissolved in physiological saline. All drugs were injected i.p. in a volume of 5 mL/kg into mice.

3.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm S.E.M. The significance of differences among multiple groups was assessed by a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test or Kruskal–Wallis test (nonparametric one-way ANOVA) followed by the Steel–Dwass post-hoc test. Comparisons between only two groups were performed by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney's U-test or parametric Student's t-test. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

3.3 Results

We confirmed that HAL at 1 mg/kg, i.p. markedly increased T_{turn} and T_{total} values, which were significantly reversed by DCS (30 mg/kg, i.p., Figure 19). Brain samples were then obtained from these animals 2 h after the HAL injection and subjected to Fos-IHC. Under these conditions, control (Vehicle + Vehicle) and DCS (30 mg/kg, i.p.) animals showed negligible Fos expression in the dIST (Figure 20, 21) and AcS (Figure 20, 22). The number of Fos-IR-positive cells was markedly increased by HAL (vehicle + HAL, dIST: F(3, 21) =14.979, P < 0.001, AcS: F(3, 21) = 8.3832, P = 0.003). However, HAL-induced Fos expression was significantly inhibited by DCS in the dIST (P = 0.032). Haloperidol (vehicle + Hal) treatment showed an increment in the number of Fos-IR-positive cells in the dIST to approximately 21 cells/grid; on the other hand, the treatment with DCS reduced HALinduced Fos expression to approximately 16 cells/gird. Interestingly, DCS did not significantly affect HAL-induced Fos expression in the AcS (Figure 20, 21).

3.4 Discussion

The present study demonstrated that DCS, a glycine-binding site agonist of NMDA receptors, significantly alleviated HAL-induced bradykinesia. The antibradykinetic doses of DCS in the pole test were 3–30 mg/kg, i.p., a dose range similar to those producing efficacy in animal models of schizophrenia with phencyclidine, a NMDA antagonist, (10-30 mg/kg, s.c.)¹⁴⁸⁾. Therefore, the glycine-binding site stimulants of NMDA are expected to reduce EPS associated with antipsychotic treatments in clinical settings.

Antipsychotics elevate the regional expression of the Fos protein, a biological marker of neural activation, both in the nucleus accumbens and striatum by blocking dopamine D₂ receptors⁸³⁾. Furthermore, dopamine D₂ receptor-mediated Fos expression reflects in the nucleus accumbens the effectiveness of the antipsychotics and in the striatum the EPS liability of antipsychotics^{142, 144, 149-151)}. Hence, second-generation antipsychotics with fewer EPS commonly lead to reduced Fos expression in the striatum^{144, 152-154)}. In the present study, we showed that DCS significantly reduced Fos expression in the dIST. This evidence further supports DCS counteracts striatal dopamine D₂ receptor blockade by HAL to attenuate the induction of EPS. The effects of DCS on Fos expression were region-specific and did not significantly alter HAL-induced Fos expression in the AcS. These results suggest that a combination of the glycine-binding site stimulants of NMDA receptors with antipsychotics preferentially attenuates EPS (D₂ blocking action in the striatum) without interfering with the therapeutic action of antipsychotics.

These results suggest that DCS induces the activation of neurons in the striatum alleviating the HAL-induced EPS. Therefore, based on the glutamate hypothesis, the glycine-binding site stimulants of NMDA receptors are expected to become a new medication for schizophrenia¹⁵⁵⁾. Clinical studies showed that several agents including DCS improved negative symptoms and/or cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁹⁾. In conclusion, the present results suggest that glycine-binding site agonists are beneficial not only for its efficacy, but also side-effect management in the treatment of schizophrenia. Not to mention that the presented evidence shows that Fos protein expression evaluation is an effective way to strengthen the behavioral evidence and identify brain regions related to pharmacological drug effects/side-effects.

4 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As the acknowledgements section presents an opportunity to students express their gratitude to all people that played an essential role in their graduation, without the concerning of social awkwardness, I would like to thank those that went far above and beyond what was professionally required of them. In this section, I also want to express my deepest gratitude to each person that contributed to the completion of this thesis.

Initially, I would like to say thank you to my supervisor, Prof. Yukihiro Ohno of the Laboratory of Pharmacology at Osaka University of Pharmaceutical Sciences, for his patient guidance, enthusiastic encouragement and providing me all necessary assets to accomplish the present work and improve myself as scientist. Your support and dedication to your laboratory team has earned you much deserved admiration. I am also thankful to Prof. Masahiko Taniguchi for his instruction, supervision, constant support and motivation, his wiliness to give his time so generously has been very much appreciated. I must also to include that his class was one the most interesting in this PhD course, I often use the contents in talks with laboratory fellows or friends with scientific curiosity.

I am grateful to Dr. Yoshiko Kawai, Dr. Saki Shimizu and all PhD students, especially to Dr. Kentaro Tokudome and Mr. Naofume Kunisawa, for sharing essential theory and technical knowledge, and also for their direct assistance in many experiments included in this dissertation. For all laboratory members past and present whom provided me with their excellent technical assistance and kind support. Thank you all for providing me with such a great laboratory environment.

I want to extend my thanks, to the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) for providing the opportunity to study and research in Japan as an international exchange student, allowing me to increase my knowledge in neuroscience and

~ 23 ~

in Japan's history, culture and language that I am so found of. To the OUPS that provided me all assistance to have comfortable graduate school lifestyle in order to allow me to focus my efforts in my research and studies. I am most grateful for your support.

I also would like to thank my family, relatives and friends who celebrated each achievement and helped to keep my head up and moving forward despite failures or difficulties I have faced. Especially my deceased Japanese teacher, Ms. Marcia Naomi Miyazaki, who helped with the Japanese documentations before coming to Japan, I am glad that my last memory was a tender smile for knowing that one of your students was going to Japan. I wholeheartedly appreciate everything you all have done for me.

5 REFERENCES

- Guerreiro AMC, Guerreiro MM, Cendes F, Cendes IL. Consideracoes Gerais *Epilepsia*. (Lemos Editorial, Sao Paulo), 1-10 (2000) [Portuguese].
- Fisher RS: The New Classification of Seizures by the International League Against Epilepsy 2017. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.*, **17**, 48 (2017).
- 3) Fisher RS: Redefining epilepsy. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.*, **28**, 130-135 (2015).
- 4) Hart YM, Sander JWAS, Shorvon SD, Johnson AL: National General Practice Study of Epilepsy: recurrence after a first seizure. *The Lancet*, **336**, 1271-1274 (1990).
- 5) Gotti C, Zoli M, Clementi F: Brain nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: native subtypes and their relevance. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, **27**, 482-491 (2006).
- Dani JA, Bertrand D: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and nicotinic cholinergic mechanisms of the central nervous system. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 47, 699-729 (2007).

~ 24 ~

- Faure P, Tolu S, Valverde S, Naude J: Role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in regulating dopamine neuron activity. *Neuroscience*, 282c, 86-100 (2014).
- Taly A, Corringer P-J, Guedin D, Lestage P, Changeux J-P: Nicotinic receptors: allosteric transitions and therapeutic targets in the nervous system. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, 8, 733-750 (2009).
- 9) Colombo SF, Mazzo F, Pistillo F, Gotti C: Biogenesis, trafficking and up-regulation of nicotinic ACh receptors. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, **86**, 1063-1073 (2013).
- 10) Albuquerque EX, Pereira EF, Alkondon M, Rogers SW: Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol. Rev.*, **89**, 73-120 (2009).
- Lloyd GK, Williams M: Neuronal Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors as Novel Drug Targets. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 292, 461-467 (2000).
- Singer J, Janz T: Apnea and seizures caused by nicotine ingestion. *Pediatr. Emerg. Care*, 6, 135-137 (1990).
- Woolf A, Burkhart K, Caraccio T, Litovitz T: Self-Poisoning Among Adults Using Multiple Transdermal Nicotine Patches. J. Toxicol. Clin. Toxicol., 34, 691-698 (1996).
- 14) Dixit KS, Dhasmana KM, Saxena RC, Kohli RP: Antagonism of intracerebrally induced nicotinic convulsions in mice: a method for measuring the central antinicotinic activity of CNS acting agents. *Psychopharmacologia*, **19**, 67-72 (1971).
- Miner LL, Collins AC: Strain comparison of nicotine-induced seizure sensitivity and nicotinic receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 33, 469-475 (1989).
- 16) Scheffer IE, Bhatia KP, Lopes-Cendes I, Fish DR, Marsden CD, Andermann E, Andermann F, Desbiens R, Keene D, Cendes F, et al.: Autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy. A distinctive clinical disorder. *Brain*, **118** (**Pt 1**), 61-73 (1995).

~ 25 ~
- 17) Steinlein OK, Mulley JC, Propping P, Wallace RH, Phillips HA, Sutherland GR, Scheffer IE, Berkovic SF: A missense mutation in the neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha 4 subunit is associated with autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy. *Nat. Genet.*, **11**, 201-203 (1995).
- 18) Elmslie FV, Rees M, Williamson MP, Kerr M, Kjeldsen MJ, Pang KA, Sundqvist A, Friis ML, Chadwick D, Richens A, Covanis A, Santos M, Arzimanoglou A, Panayiotopoulos CP, Curtis D, Whitehouse WP, Gardiner RM: Genetic mapping of a major susceptibility locus for juvenile myoclonic epilepsy on chromosome 15q. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **6**, 1329-1334 (1997).
- Helbig I, Mefford HC, Sharp AJ, Guipponi M, Fichera M, Franke A, Muhle H, de Kovel C, Baker C, von Spiczak S, Kron KL, Steinich I, Kleefuss-Lie AA, Leu C, Gaus V, Schmitz B, Klein KM, Reif PS, Rosenow F, Weber Y, Lerche H, Zimprich F, Urak L, Fuchs K, Feucht M, Genton P, Thomas P, Visscher F, de Haan GJ, Moller RS, Hjalgrim H, Luciano D, Wittig M, Nothnagel M, Elger CE, Nurnberg P, Romano C, Malafosse A, Koeleman BP, Lindhout D, Stephani U, Schreiber S, Eichler EE, Sander T: 15q13.3 microdeletions increase risk of idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Nat. Genet.*, 41, 160-162 (2009).
- 20) Endris V, Hackmann K, Neuhann TM, Grasshoff U, Bonin M, Haug U, Hahn G, Schallner JC, Schrock E, Tinschert S, Rappold G, Moog U: Homozygous loss of CHRNA7 on chromosome 15q13.3 causes severe encephalopathy with seizures and hypotonia. *Am. J. Med. Genet. A*, **152a**, 2908-2911 (2010).
- 21) Liao J, DeWard SJ, Madan-Khetarpal S, Surti U, Hu J: A small homozygous microdeletion of 15q13.3 including the CHRNA7 gene in a girl with a spectrum of severe neurodevelopmental features. *Am. J. Med. Genet. A*, **155a**, 2795-2800 (2011).

- 22) Rozycka A, Dorszewska J, Steinborn B, Lianeri M, Winczewska-Wiktor A, Sniezawska A, Wisniewska K, Jagodzinski PP: Association study of the 2-bp deletion polymorphism in exon 6 of the CHRFAM7A gene with idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *DNA Cell Biol.*, **32**, 640-647 (2013).
- Bertrand D, Elmslie F, Hughes E, Trounce J, Sander T, Bertrand S, Steinlein OK: The CHRNB2 mutation I312M is associated with epilepsy and distinct memory deficits. *Neurobiol. Dis.*, 20, 799-804 (2005).
- 24) Pidoplichko VI, Prager EM, Aroniadou-Anderjaska V, Braga MF: alpha7-Containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on interneurons of the basolateral amygdala and their role in the regulation of the network excitability. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 110, 2358-2369 (2013).
- 25) Rozycka A, Dorszewska J, Steinborn B, Kempisty B, Lianeri M, Wisniewska K, Jagodzinski PP: A transcript coding for a partially duplicated form of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is absent from the CD4+ T-lymphocytes of patients with autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy (ADNFLE). *Folia Neuropathol.*, 51, 65-75 (2013).
- 26) Iha HA, Kunisawa N, Tokudome K, Mukai T, Kinboshi M, Shimizu S, Ohno Y. Immunohistochemical analysis of Fos protein expression for exploring brain regions (foci) related to central nervous system (CNS) disorders and drug actions. *In vivo neuropharmacology and neurophysiology*. ed. Philippu A. (Springer, New York), 389-408 (2016).
- 27) Morgan JI, Cohen DR, Hempstead JL, Curran T: Mapping patterns of c-fos expression in the central nervous system after seizure. *Science*, **237**, 192-197 (1987).
- 28) Shimizu S, Sogabe S, Yanagisako R, Inada A, Yamanaka M, Iha HA, Ohno Y: Glycine-Binding Site Stimulants of NMDA Receptors Alleviate Extrapyramidal

~ 27 ~

Motor Disorders by Activating the Nigrostriatal Dopaminergic Pathway. *Int J Mol Sci*, **18**, (2017).

- 29) Herrera DG, Robertson HA: Activation of c-fos in the brain. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 50, 83-107 (1996).
- 30) Ohno Y, Ishihara S, Mashimo T, Sofue N, Shimizu S, Imaoku T, Tsurumi T, Sasa M, Serikawa T: Scn1a missense mutation causes limbic hyperexcitability and vulnerability to experimental febrile seizures. *Neurobiol. Dis.*, **41**, 261-269 (2011).
- 31) Miller AL, Medina MA: Cerebral metabolic effects of organophosphorus anticholinesterase compounds. *Metab. Brain Dis.*, **1**, 147-156 (1986).
- Saitoh F, Noma M, Kawashima N: The alkaloid contents of sixty Nicotiana species.
 Phytochemistry, 24, 477-480 (1985).
- 33) Vieyra-Reyes P, Mineur YS, Picciotto MR, Tunez I, Vidaltamayo R, Drucker-Colin
 R: Antidepressant-like effects of nicotine and transcranial magnetic stimulation in
 the olfactory bulbectomy rat model of depression. *Brain Res. Bull.*, 77, 13-18 (2008).
- 34) Haj-Mirzaian A, Kordjazy N, Haj-Mirzaian A, Ostadhadi S, Ghasemi M, Amiri S, Faizi M, Dehpour A: Evidence for the involvement of NMDA receptors in the antidepressant-like effect of nicotine in mouse forced swimming and tail suspension tests. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 232, 3551-3561 (2015).
- 35) Stein EA, Pankiewicz J, Harsch HH, Cho J-K, Fuller SA, Hoffman RG, Hawkins M, Rao SM, Bandettini PA, Bloom AS: Nicotine-Induced Limbic Cortical Activation in the Human Brain: A Functional MRI Study. Am. J. Psychiatry, 155, 1009-1015 (1998).

- 36) Wood C, Kohli S, Malcolm E, Allison C, Shoaib M: Subtype-selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists can improve cognitive flexibility in an attentional set shifting task. *Neuropharmacology*, **105**, 106-113 (2016).
- 37) Harrington L, Vinals X, Herrera-Solis A, Flores A, Morel C, Tolu S, Faure P, Maldonado R, Maskos U, Robledo P: Role of beta4* Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in the Habenulo-Interpeduncular Pathway in Nicotine Reinforcement in Mice. *Neuropsychopharmacol.*, **41**, 1790-1802 (2016).
- 38) Le Foll B, Goldberg SR: Effects of nicotine in experimental animals and humans: an update on addictive properties. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.*, 335-367 (2009).
- 39) Benson BE, Hoppu K, Troutman WG, Bedry R, Erdman A, Hojer J, Megarbane B, Thanacoody R, Caravati EM: Position paper update: gastric lavage for gastrointestinal decontamination. *Clin. Toxicol. (Phila.)*, **51**, 140-146 (2013).
- 40) Forrester RM: "HAVE YOU EATEN LABURNUM?". *The Lancet*, **313**, 1073 (1979).
- 41) Lavoie FW, Harris TM: Fatal nicotine ingestion. J. Emerg. Med., 9, 133-136 (1991).
- Shiffman SM, Gritz ER, Maltese J, Lee MA, Schneider NG, Jarvik ME: Effects of cigarette smoking and oral nicotine on hand tremor. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, 33, 800-805 (1983).
- 43) Woolf A, Burkhart K, Caraccio T, Litovitz T: Childhood poisoning involving transdermal nicotine patches. *Pediatrics*, **99**, E4 (1997).
- 44) Murphy NG, Albin C, Tai W, Benowitz NL: Anabasine toxicity from a topical folk remedy. *Clin. Pediatr. (Phila.)*, **45**, 669-671 (2006).
- 45) Frank BS, Michelson WB, Panter KE, Gardner DR: Ingestion of poison hemlock (Conium maculatum). *West. J. Med.*, 163, 573-574 (1995).

~ 29 ~

- 46) Jones S, Sudweeks S, Yakel JL: Nicotinic receptors in the brain: correlating physiology with function. *Trends Neurosci.*, **22**, 555-561 (1999).
- 47) Jones S, Yakel JL: Functional nicotinic ACh receptors on interneurones in the rat hippocampus. *J. Physiol.*, **504**, 603-610 (1997).
- 48) Wonnacott S: Presynaptic nicotinic ACh receptors. *Trends Neurosci.*, 20, 92-98 (1997).
- 49) Shen JX, Yakel JL: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated calcium signaling in the nervous system. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.*, **30**, 673-680 (2009).
- 50) Flores CM, Rogers SW, Pabreza LA, Wolfe BB, Kellar KJ: A subtype of nicotinic cholinergic receptor in rat brain is composed of alpha 4 and beta 2 subunits and is up-regulated by chronic nicotine treatment. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **41**, 31-37 (1992).
- 51) Swan GE, Lessov-Schlaggar CN: The effects of tobacco smoke and nicotine on cognition and the brain. *Neuropsychol. Rev.*, **17**, 259-273 (2007).
- 52) Besson M, David V, Baudonnat M, Cazala P, Guilloux JP, Reperant C, Cloez-Tayarani I, Changeux JP, Gardier AM, Granon S: Alpha7-nicotinic receptors modulate nicotine-induced reinforcement and extracellular dopamine outflow in the mesolimbic system in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **220**, 1-14 (2012).
- 53) Sharp AJ, Mefford HC, Li K, Baker C, Skinner C, Stevenson RE, Schroer RJ, Novara F, De Gregori M, Ciccone R, Broomer A, Casuga I, Wang Y, Xiao C, Barbacioru C, Gimelli G, Bernardina BD, Torniero C, Giorda R, Regan R, Murday V, Mansour S, Fichera M, Castiglia L, Failla P, Ventura M, Jiang Z, Cooper GM, Knight SJ, Romano C, Zuffardi O, Chen C, Schwartz CE, Eichler EE: A recurrent 15q13.3 microdeletion syndrome associated with mental retardation and seizures. *Nat. Genet.*, 40, 322-328 (2008).

- 54) Sinkus ML, Graw S, Freedman R, Ross RG, Lester HA, Leonard S: The human CHRNA7 and CHRFAM7A genes: A review of the genetics, regulation, and function. *Neuropharmacology*, 96, 274-288 (2015).
- 55) Bertrand D, Picard F, Le Hellard S, Weiland S, Favre I, Phillips H, Bertrand S, Berkovic SF, Malafosse A, Mulley J: How mutations in the nAChRs can cause ADNFLE epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, **43 Suppl 5**, 112-122 (2002).
- 56) Miller DT, Shen Y, Weiss LA, Korn J, Anselm I, Bridgemohan C, Cox GF, Dickinson H, Gentile J, Harris DJ, Hegde V, Hundley R, Khwaja O, Kothare S, Luedke C, Nasir R, Poduri A, Prasad K, Raffalli P, Reinhard A, Smith SE, Sobeih MM, Soul JS, Stoler J, Takeoka M, Tan WH, Thakuria J, Wolff R, Yusupov R, Gusella JF, Daly MJ, Wu BL: Microdeletion/duplication at 15q13.2q13.3 among individuals with features of autism and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *J. Med. Genet.*, **46**, 242-248 (2009).
- 57) Soler-Alfonso C, Carvalho CM, Ge J, Roney EK, Bader PI, Kolodziejska KE, Miller RM, Lupski JR, Stankiewicz P, Cheung SW, Bi W, Schaaf CP: CHRNA7 triplication associated with cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric phenotypes in a three-generation pedigree. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.*, **22**, 1071-1076 (2014).
- 58) Dineley KT, Pandya AA, Yakel JL: Nicotinic ACh receptors as therapeutic targets in CNS disorders. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, **36**, 96-108 (2015).
- 59) Kunisawa N, Iha HA, Shimizu S, Tokudome K, Mukai T, Kinboshi M, Serikawa T, Ohno Y: Nicotine evokes kinetic tremor by activating the inferior olive via alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Behav. Brain Res.*, **314**, 173-180 (2016).
- Kunisawa N, Iha HA, Nomura Y, Onishi M, Matsubara N, Shimizu S, Ohno Y:
 Serotonergic modulation of nicotine-induced kinetic tremor in mice. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.*, 134, 131-138 (2017).

- 61) Tokudome K, Okumura T, Shimizu S, Mashimo T, Takizawa A, Serikawa T, Terada R, Ishihara S, Kunisawa N, Sasa M, Ohno Y: Synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A (SV2A) regulates kindling epileptogenesis via GABAergic neurotransmission. *Sci. Rep.*, 6, 27420 (2016).
- 62) Gomita Y, Suemaru K, Furuno K, Araki Y: Nicotine-induced tail-tremor and drug effects. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **34**, 817-821 (1989).
- Blondel A, Sanger DJ, Moser PC: Characterisation of the effects of nicotine in the five-choice serial reaction time task in rats: antagonist studies. *Psychopharmacology*, 149, 293-305 (2000).
- 64) Liu X: Effects of blockade of alpha4beta2 and alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on cue-induced reinstatement of nicotine-seeking behaviour in rats. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.*, **17**, 105-116 (2014).
- 65) Kim MN, Jutkiewicz EM, Zhang M, Gnegy ME: The sensitizing effect of acute nicotine on amphetamine-stimulated behavior and dopamine efflux requires activation of beta2 subunit-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, **60**, 1126-1134 (2011).
- 66) Franklin KBJ, Paxinos G. *The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*. Academic Press, San Diego (2008).
- 67) Ohno Y, Shimizu S, Tatara A, Imaoku T, Ishii T, Sasa M, Serikawa T, Kuramoto T:
 Hcn1 is a tremorgenic genetic component in a rat model of essential tremor. *PloS* one, 10, e0123529 (2015).
- 68) Paxinos G, Watson C. *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*. Academic Press, San Diego (2007).

- 69) Shimizu S, Tatara A, Imaki J, Ohno Y: Role of cortical and striatal 5-HT1A receptors in alleviating antipsychotic-induced extrapyramidal disorders. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*, **34**, 877-881 (2010).
- 70) Shimizu S, Mizuguchi Y, Tatara A, Kizu T, Andatsu S, Sobue A, Fujiwara M, Morimoto T, Ohno Y: 5-HT1A agonist alleviates serotonergic potentiation of extrapyramidal disorders via postsynaptic mechanisms. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*, **46**, 86-91 (2013).
- Shimizu S, Tatara A, Sato M, Sugiuchi T, Miyoshi S, Andatsu S, Kizu T, Ohno Y:
 Role of cerebellar dopamine D(3) receptors in modulating exploratory locomotion and cataleptogenicity in rats. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*, 50, 157-162 (2014).
- Rong L, Frontera AT, Jr., Benbadis SR: Tobacco smoking, epilepsy, and seizures.
 Epilepsy Behav., **31**, 210-218 (2014).
- 73) Miner LL, Marks MJ, Collins AC: Relationship between nicotine-induced seizures and hippocampal nicotinic receptors. *Life Sci.*, **37**, 75-83 (1985).
- Damaj MI, Glassco W, Dukat M, Martin BR: Pharmacological Characterization of Nicotine-Induced Seizures in Mice. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 291, 1284-1291 (1999).
- 75) Gil Z, Sack RA, Kedmi M, Harmelin A, Orr-Urtreger A: Increased sensitivity to nicotine-induced seizures in mice heterozygous for the L250T mutation in the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Neuroreport*, **13**, 191-196 (2002).
- 76) Dobelis P, Hutton S, Lu Y, Collins AC: GABAergic systems modulate nicotinic receptor-mediated seizures in mice. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 306, 1159-1166 (2003).

- Unna K, Kniazuk M, Greslin JG: Pharmacologic action of *Erythrina* Alkaloids I. β-erythroidine and substances derived from it. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **80**, 39-52 (1944).
- 78) Stegelmeier BL, Hall JO, Gardner DR, Panter KE: The toxicity and kinetics of larkspur alkaloid, methyllycaconitine, in mice. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **81**, 1237-1241 (2003).
- 79) Hoffman GE, Lyo D: Anatomical markers of activity in neuroendocrine systems: are we all 'fos-ed out'? *J. Neuroendocrinol.*, **14**, 259-268 (2002).
- Kovacs KJ: c-Fos as a transcription factor: a stressful (re)view from a functional map.
 Neurochem. Int., 33, 287-297 (1998).
- 81) Okuno H: Regulation and function of immediate-early genes in the brain: beyond neuronal activity markers. *Neurosci. Res.*, **69**, 175-186 (2011).
- 82) Ohno Y, Shimizu S, Harada Y, Morishita M, Ishihara S, Kumafuji K, Sasa M, Serikawa T: Regional expression of Fos-like immunoreactivity following seizures in Noda epileptic rat (NER). *Epilepsy Res.*, 87, 70-76 (2009).
- 83) Ohno Y, Shimizu S, Imaki J, Ishihara S, Sofue N, Sasa M, Kawai Y: Anticataleptic 8-OH-DPAT preferentially counteracts with haloperidol-induced Fos expression in the dorsolateral striatum and the core region of the nucleus accumbens. *Neuropharmacology*, 55, 717-723 (2008).
- 84) Tatara A, Shimizu S, Masui A, Tamura M, Minamimoto S, Mizuguchi Y, Ochiai M, Mizobe Y, Ohno Y: Atypical antipsychotic properties of AD-6048, a primary metabolite of blonanserin. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **138**, 14-19 (2015).
- 85) Mineur YS, Picciotto MR: Nicotine receptors and depression: revisiting and revising the cholinergic hypothesis. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, **31**, 580-586 (2010).

- 86) Aroniadou-Anderjaska V, Fritsch B, Qashu F, Braga MF: Pathology and pathophysiology of the amygdala in epileptogenesis and epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.*, 78, 102-116 (2008).
- 87) Gloor P. Role of the amygdala in temporal lobe epilepsy. In *The amygdala: Neurobiological Aspects of Emotion, Memory, and Mental Dysfunction.* ed. Aggleton
 J. (Wiley-Liss, New York City), 505-538 (1992).
- 88) Pitkanen A, Tuunanen J, Kalviainen R, Partanen K, Salmenpera T: Amygdala damage in experimental and human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.*, **32**, 233-253 (1998).
- 89) Morimoto K, Fahnestock M, Racine RJ: Kindling and status epilepticus models of epilepsy: rewiring the brain. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, **73**, 1-60 (2004).
- 90) Viel TA, Caetano AL, Albuquerque MS, Araujo MS, Buck HS: Chronic infusion of amyloid-beta peptide and sustained attention altered alpha7 nicotinic receptor density in the rat brain. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.*, **9**, 1210-1220 (2012).
- 91) Mendez IA, Damborsky JC, Winzer-Serhan UH, Bizon JL, Setlow B: $\alpha 4\beta 2*$ and $\alpha 7$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptor binding predicts choice preference in two cost benefit decision-making tasks. *Neuroscience*, **230**, 121-131 (2013).
- 92) Klein RC, Yakel JL: Functional somato-dendritic alpha7-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the rat basolateral amygdala complex. J. Physiol., 576, 865-872 (2006).
- 93) Weiss S, Nosten-Bertrand M, McIntosh JM, Giros B, Martres MP: Nicotine improves cognitive deficits of dopamine transporter knockout mice without long-term tolerance. *Neuropsychopharmacol.*, **32**, 2465-2478 (2007).

- 94) Gozzi A, Schwarz A, Reese T, Bertani S, Crestan V, Bifone A: Region-specific effects of nicotine on brain activity: a pharmacological MRI study in the drug-naive rat. *Neuropsychopharmacol.*, **31**, 1690-1703 (2006).
- 95) Terry AV, Jr., Gearhart DA, Mahadik SP, Warsi S, Davis LW, Waller JL: Chronic exposure to typical or atypical antipsychotics in rodents: temporal effects on central alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuroscience*, **136**, 519-529 (2005).
- 96) McCullumsmith RE, Semins MJ, Meador-Woodruff JH: Effects of 6-cyano-7nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione on nicotinic receptor subunit transcript expression in the rat brain. *Synapse*, **52**, 62-72 (2004).
- 97) Han ZY, Zoli M, Cardona A, Bourgeois JP, Changeux JP, Le Novere N: Localization of [3H]nicotine, [3H]cytisine, [3H]epibatidine, and [125I]alpha-bungarotoxin binding sites in the brain of Macaca mulatta. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, 461, 49-60 (2003).
- 98) Arimatsu Y, Seto A, Amano T: Localization of α-bungarotoxin binding sites in mouse brain by light and electron microscopic autoradiography. *Brain Res.*, 147, 165-169 (1978).
- 99) Feduccia AA, Chatterjee S, Bartlett SE: Neuronal Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors: Neuroplastic Changes underlying Alcohol and Nicotine Addictions. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.*, 5, (2012).
- 100) Brichta L, Greengard P, Flajolet M: Advances in the pharmacological treatment of Parkinson's disease: targeting neurotransmitter systems. *Trends Neurosci.*, **36**, 543-554 (2013).
- Jiang L, Role LW: Facilitation of cortico-amygdala synapses by nicotine: activitydependent modulation of glutamatergic transmission. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **99**, 1988-1999 (2008).

- 102) Barazangi N, Role LW: Nicotine-induced enhancement of glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic transmission in the mouse amygdala. J. Neurophysiol., 86, 463-474 (2001).
- 103) Emre M, Heckers S, Mash DC, Geula C, Mesulam MM: Cholinergic innervation of the amygdaloid complex in the human brain and its alterations in old age and Alzheimer's disease. J. Comp. Neurol., 336, 117-134 (1993).
- 104) Woolf NJ, Eckenstein F, Butcher LL: Cholinergic systems in the rat brain: I. projections to the limbic telencephalon. *Brain Res. Bull.*, **13**, 751-784 (1984).
- 105) Gillentine MA, Schaaf CP: The human clinical phenotypes of altered CHRNA7 copy number. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, **97**, 352-362 (2015).
- 106) Crow TJ: Molecular pathology of schizophrenia: more than one disease process? *Br. Med. J.*, 280, 66-68 (1980).
- 107) Crow TJ: Positive and negative schizophrenic symptoms and the role of dopamine.*Br. J. Psychiatry*, 137, 383-386 (1980).
- Andreasen NC, Olsen S: Negative v positive schizophrenia. Definition and validation.
 Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 39, 789-794 (1982).
- 109) Andreasen NC: Negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Definition and reliability. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry*, **39**, 784-788 (1982).
- 110) Meltzer HY: The mechanism of action of novel antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophr. Bull.*,
 17, 263-287 (1991).
- 111) Kapur S, Remington G: Atypical antipsychotics: new directions and new challenges in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Annual review of medicine*, **52**, 503-517 (2001).
- 112) Ohno Y: Therapeutic role of 5-HT1A receptors in the treatment of schizophrenia and Parkinson's disease. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.*, **17**, 58-65 (2011).

~ 37 ~

- Shimizu S, Mizuguchi Y, Ohno Y: Improving the treatment of schizophrenia: role of
 5-HT receptors in modulating cognitive and extrapyramidal motor functions. *CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets*, 12, 861-869 (2013).
- 114) Howes OD, Kapur S: The Dopamine Hypothesis of Schizophrenia: Version III—The Final Common Pathway. *Schizophr. Bull.*, 35, 549-562 (2009).
- 115) Meltzer HY, Stahl SM: The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophr. Bull.*, 2, 19-76 (1976).
- Seeman P: Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia.*Synapse*, 1, 133-152 (1987).
- 117) Casey DE: Implications of the CATIE trial on treatment: extrapyramidal symptoms.*CNS Spectr.*, **11**, 25-31 (2006).
- 118) Glazer WM: Expected incidence of tardive dyskinesia associated with atypical antipsychotics. *J. Clin. Psychiatry*, **61 Suppl 4**, 21-26 (2000).
- 119) Glazer WM: Review of incidence studies of tardive dyskinesia associated with typical antipsychotics. *J. Clin. Psychiatry*, **61 Suppl 4**, 15-20 (2000).
- 120) Casey DE: Pathophysiology of antipsychotic drug-induced movement disorders. J. Clin. Psychiatry, 65 Suppl 9, 25-28 (2004).
- 121) Rosenheck RA: Evaluating the cost-effectiveness of reduced tardive dyskinesia with second-generation antipsychotics. *Br. J. Psychiatry*, **191**, 238-245 (2007).
- 122) Kulkarni SK, Naidu PS: Pathophysiology and drug therapy of tardive dyskinesia: current concepts and future perspectives. *Drugs Today (Barc.)*, **39**, 19-49 (2003).
- 123) Cull-Candy S, Brickley S, Farrant M: NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.*, **11**, 327-335 (2001).

- 124) Lee CH, Lu W, Michel JC, Goehring A, Du J, Song X, Gouaux E: NMDA receptor structures reveal subunit arrangement and pore architecture. *Nature*, **511**, 191-197 (2014).
- 125) Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF: The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol. Rev.*, **51**, 7-61 (1999).
- 126) Javitt DC, Zukin SR: Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia.*Am. J. Psychiatry*, **148**, 1301-1308 (1991).
- 127) Olney JW, Farber NB: Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry*, **52**, 998-1007 (1995).
- 128) Coyle JT: The glutamatergic dysfunction hypothesis for schizophrenia. *Harv. Rev. Psychiatry*, 3, 241-253 (1996).
- 129) Lees KR: Cerestat and other NMDA antagonists in ischemic stroke. *Neurology*, 49, S66-69 (1997).
- 130) Serafini G, Howland RH, Rovedi F, Girardi P, Amore M: The role of ketamine in treatment-resistant depression: a systematic review. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.*, 12, 444-461 (2014).
- 131) Deardorff WJ, Grossberg GT: Pharmacotherapeutic strategies in the treatment of severe Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.*, **17**, 1789-1800 (2016).
- 132) Ferraris DV, Tsukamoto T: Recent advances in the discovery of D-amino acid oxidase inhibitors and their therapeutic utility in schizophrenia. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 17, 103-111 (2011).
- Goff DC: D-cycloserine: an evolving role in learning and neuroplasticity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.*, **38**, 936-941 (2012).

- 134) Arout CA, Caldwell M, McCloskey DP, Kest B: C-Fos activation in the periaqueductal gray following acute morphine-3beta-D-glucuronide or morphine administration. *Physiol. Behav.*, **130**, 28-33 (2014).
- 135) Hamlin AS, McNally GP, Westbrook RF, Osborne PB: Induction of Fos proteins in regions of the nucleus accumbens and ventrolateral striatum correlates with catalepsy and stereotypic behaviours induced by morphine. *Neuropharmacology*, 56, 798-807 (2009).
- 136) Reznikov LR, Pasumarthi RK, Fadel JR: Caffeine elicits c-Fos expression in horizontal diagonal band cholinergic neurons. *Neuroreport*, 20, 1609-1612 (2009).
- 137) Retzbach EP, Dholakia PH, Duncan-Vaidya EA: The effect of daily caffeine exposure on lever-pressing for sucrose and c-Fos expression in the nucleus accumbens in the rat. *Physiol. Behav.*, **135**, 1-6 (2014).
- Li B, Suemaru K, Kitamura Y, Gomita Y, Araki H, Cui R: Imipramine-induced c-Fos expression in the medial prefrontal cortex is decreased in the ACTH-treated rats. *J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol.*, 27, 486-491 (2013).
- 139) Ohno Y, Shimizu S, Imaki J: Effects of tandospirone, a 5-HT1A agonistic anxiolytic agent, on haloperidol-induced catalepsy and forebrain Fos expression in mice. J. *Pharmacol. Sci.*, **109**, 593-599 (2009).
- 140) Ohno Y, Okano M, Imaki J, Tatara A, Okumura T, Shimizu S: Atypical antipsychotic properties of blonanserin, a novel dopamine D2 and 5-HT2A antagonist. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 96, 175-180 (2010).
- 141) Adams MR, Brandon EP, Chartoff EH, Idzerda RL, Dorsa DM, McKnight GS: Loss of haloperidol induced gene expression and catalepsy in protein kinase A-deficient mice. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol., 94, 12157-12161 (1997).

- Ishibashi T, Tagashira R, Nakamura M, Noguchi H, Ohno Y: Effects of Perospirone,
 a Novel 5-HT2 and D2 Receptor Antagonist, on Fos Protein Expression in the Rat
 Forebrain. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 63, 535-541 (1999).
- 143) Merchant KM, Dorsa DM: Differential induction of neurotensin and c-fos gene expression by typical versus atypical antipsychotics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 90, 3447-3451 (1993).
- 144) Robertson GS, Matsumura H, Fibiger HC: Induction patterns of Fos-like immunoreactivity in the forebrain as predictors of atypical antipsychotic activity. J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 271, 1058-1066 (1994).
- 145) Ma J, Ye N, Cohen BM: Expression of noradrenergic α1, serotoninergic 5HT2a and dopaminergic D2 receptors on neurons activated by typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*, **30**, 647-657 (2006).
- 146) Natesan S, Reckless GE, Nobrega JN, Fletcher PJ, Kapur S: Dissociation between in vivo occupancy and functional antagonism of dopamine D2 receptors: comparing aripiprazole to other antipsychotics in animal models. *Neuropsychopharmacol.*, **31**, 1854-1863 (2006).
- 147) Shimizu S, Mizuguchi Y, Sobue A, Fujiwara M, Morimoto T, Ohno Y: Interaction between anti-Alzheimer and antipsychotic drugs in modulating extrapyramidal motor disorders in mice. J. Pharmacol. Sci., 127, 439-445 (2015).
- 148) Noda A, Noda Y, Kamei H, Ichihara K, Mamiya T, Nagai T, Sugiura S-i, Furukawa H, Nabeshima T: Phencyclidine Impairs Latent Learning in Mice: Interaction between Glutamatergic Systems and Sigma1 Receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacol.*, 24, 451 (2001).

- 149) Robertson GS, Fibiger HC: Neuroleptics increase c-fos expression in the forebrain: contrasting effects of haloperidol and clozapine. *Neuroscience*, 46, 315-328 (1992).
- 150) Zahm DS, Brog JS: On the significance of subterritories in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum. *Neuroscience*, **50**, 751-767 (1992).
- 151) da Cunha IC, Lopes AP, Steffens SM, Ferraz A, Vargas JC, de Lima TC, Marino Neto J, Paschoalini MA, Faria MS: The microinjection of AMPA receptor antagonist into the accumbens shell, but not into the accumbens core, induces anxiolysis in an animal model of anxiety. *Behav. Brain Res.*, **188**, 91-99 (2008).
- 152) Tremblay PO, Gervais J, Rouillard C: Modification of haloperidol-induced pattern of c-fos expression by serotonin agonists. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **10**, 3546-3555 (1998).
- 153) Ishibashi T, Ikeda K, Ishida K, Yasui J, Tojima R, Nakamura M, Ohno Y: Contrasting effects of SM-9018, a potential atypical antipsychotic, and haloperidol on c-fos mRNA expression in the rat striatum. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **303**, 247-251 (1996).
- Mo YQ, Jin XL, Chen YT, Jin GZ, Shi WX: Effects of 1-stepholidine on forebrain
 Fos expression: comparison with clozapine and haloperidol.
 Neuropsychopharmacol., **30**, 261-267 (2005).
- 155) Laruelle M: Schizophrenia: from dopaminergic to glutamatergic interventions. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.*, 14, 97-102 (2014).
- 156) Heresco-Levy U, Ermilov M, Shimoni J, Shapira B, Silipo G, Javitt DC: Placebocontrolled trial of D-cycloserine added to conventional neuroleptics, olanzapine, or risperidone in schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry*, **159**, 480-482 (2002).
- 157) Goff DC, Cather C, Gottlieb JD, Evins AE, Walsh J, Raeke L, Otto MW, SchoenfeldD, Green MF: Once-weekly D-cycloserine effects on negative symptoms and

cognition in schizophrenia: an exploratory study. *Schizophr. Res.*, **106**, 320-327 (2008).

- 158) Lane HY, Lin CH, Green MF, Hellemann G, Huang CC, Chen PW, Tun R, Chang YC, Tsai GE: Add-on treatment of benzoate for schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor. *JAMA psychiatry*, **70**, 1267-1275 (2013).
- 159) Cain CK, McCue M, Bello I, Creedon T, Tang DI, Laska E, Goff DC: d-Cycloserine augmentation of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.*, **153**, 177-183 (2014).
- 160) Hendrickson L, Guildford M, Tapper A: Neuronal Nicotinic Acetylcholine
 Receptors: Common Molecular Substrates of Nicotine and Alcohol Dependence.
 Front. Psychiatry, 4, (2013).

Rodents ^{5,8}	α3, α4, α5, α7, β2, β4	α4, α5, α6, β2, β3	α3, α4, α5, α7, β2, β4	α3, α4, α7, β2, β3, β4	α4, β2	α4, α7, β2,	α3, α4, α5, α6, α7, β2, β3, β4	α4, α7, β2
Human ^{5,99}	α3, α4, α7, β2	α5, α7, β2, β4	α4, α5, α7, β2	I	β2, β4	I	α6	$\alpha 4, \alpha 7, \beta 2$
Brain region	Cortex	Striatum	Hippocampus	Medial habenula	Thalamus	Hypothalamus	Substantia nigra	Amygdala

Table 1: Local expression of nACh receptor subtypes in the brain of human and rodents.



transmembrane domains (M1-M4), an extracellular amino- and carboxy-terminus, and a prominent M3-M4 intracellular loop of Figure 1: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors resume. (A) Forms of nACh receptor subtypes pentameric assemblance. There are three basic patterns of nACh assembling α , β , δ and γ/ϵ (muscular forms), α and β (heteromeric forms) or only α subunits (homomeric forms). (B) Membrane topology of neuronal nACh receptor subunit, each nACh receptor subunit contains four variable length (left), these five subunits coassemble to form a functional subunit (right). Adapted from Hendrickson et al. (2013).

Figure 2: The two main neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors subtypes. The two main neuronal nACh receptor subtypes consist of the $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors and the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. ACh binding sites are depicted as red diamonds. The basic functional and pharmacological properties of the $\alpha 7$ and $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor subtypes. Abbreviation: DH βE , dihydro-b-erythroidine; MLA, methyllycaconitine Adapted from Hendrickson et al.¹⁶⁰ and Dineley et al.⁵⁸





pCREB phosphorylated CREB, PLC phospholipase C, SRE serum response element, SRF serum response factor, TCF ternary complex factor, protein 1, CaM calcium/calmoduline, CaMK CaM-dependent kinase, CaRE calcium responsive element, CRE cAMP responsive element, Figure 3: Illustration of main neuronal signal transduction pathways for Fos expression. Hormonal, ion channel and neutransmitters activation initiate cascade reactions that culminate in the transitory expression of c-fos transcript. c-fos transiently produce the Fos protein which may dimerize with c-Jun to form the AP-1 protein complex. AP-1 regulates both basal and inducible transcription of several genes including c-fos. Therefore, Fos protein is an optimal marker for transient neural signaling. Abbreviation: AC adenyl cyclase, AP-1 activator TRE TPA (12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate)-response element. Adapted from Iha et al.²⁶



Figure 4: Experimental protocols for induction of convulsive seizures using nicotine. In all experiments animals were evaluated for 15 min immediately after the nicotine or saline (vehicle) injection for seizure incidence and intensity using a 6-point ranked score. The incidence of nicotine seizures was judged positive when animals displayed score 4 or higher. Behavior score 0: no effect; 1: mild head tremor and Straub tail; 2: tremors in extended regions; 3: severe tremors with wild running; 4: clonic seizures; and 5: tonic and tonic-clonic seizures. (A) Doseresponse and nACh antagonists evaluation for nicotine-induced seizures; for the dose-response experiment animals were injected with saline or nicotine (1, 2, 3 or 4 mg/kg, i.p.) and for the nACh antagonists study animals were treated with MEC (1 mg/kg, i.p.), MLA (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or DHBE (5 mg/kg, i.p.) 15 min before nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.). Two hours after the nicotine injection the brains were removed for Fosimmunostaining. (B) Electrical lesion study, electrodes were bilaterally placed in the PirC, Th, MHb; and AMG before seizure induction with nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.). (C) Microinjection study were performed by bilaterally placing guide cannulas in the AMG region to inject saline or nicotine (100 or 300 µg/side). After the behavioral study brains were removed to verify lesion (B) or microinjection sites (C).



in mice (A) and rats (B). Behavioral scores are expressed as the mean of \pm S.E.M. of 7-11 animals. Seizure incidence represents the percentage of animals which showed convulsive seizures (scores 4 or 5) against total animals examined. P < P0.05 P and ^{**}P < 0.01; Significant different from the control animals treated with vehicle alone (Vehicle).



before nicotine. Behavioral scores are expressed as the mean \pm S.E.M. of 7-11 animals. Seizure incidence represents the percentage of animals which showed convulsive seizures (scores 4 or 5) against total animals examined. *P < 0.05 and ** P < 0.01; Significant different from the control animals treated with vehicle alone (Vehicle+Vehicle). #P < 0.05 and #PFigure 6: Effects of nACh antagonists in the nicotine-induced convulsive seizures in mice. Effects of nACh antagonists, MEC (non-selective; 1 mg/kg i.p.), MLA (α 7 nACh antagonist; 10 mg/kg i.p.), and DH β E (α 4 β 2 nACh antagonist; 5 mg/kg i.p.) on nicotine (4 mg/kg i.p.)-induced seizures in mice. nACh antagonists were injected 15 min < 0.01; Significant different from the value for nicotine group (Vehicle+Nicotine).



significant increments in Fos expression by nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.). Anteroposteirior coordinate (distance from the squares in each section indicate the sample areas analyzed and red filled squares represent the sites which showed Figure 7: Schematic illustrations of the brain sections selected for quantitative analysis of Fos expression. Filled Bregma) is shown above each section. Analysis of the MC, SC, and PirC were performed in four different levels from Bregma (Area 1 at +1.7 mm, Area 2 at +0.74 mm, Area 3 at -0.82 mm, Area 4 at -2.06 mm)







Figure 9: Effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on Fos expression in limbic and basal ganglia regions in mice. Brains were removed 2 h after the nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) administration and subjected to the Fos-IHC staining. Representative photographs illustrating the Fos-IR-positive cells in the MePD are shown in the top. Each column represents the mean \pm S.E.M. of 5-8 mice, P < 0.05; Significant different from the control animals treated with vehicle alone (Vehicle).







MePD

PT



Figure 11: Immunohistochemical analysis of Fos protein immunoreactivity. Representative photographs illustrating the Fos protein expression in PirC (region 4, Bregma -2.06 mm), medial posterodorsal amygadaloid nucleus (MePD) and paratenial thalamus (PT) of mice treated with saline (Vehicle) and nicotine. Scale bar: 100µm.













AMG lesion sites



Figure 14: Effects of electrical lesionings of the piriform cortex (PirC) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats. Panels illustrate the electrical lesion sites in PirC. Behavioral scores (left graph) are expressed as the mean of \pm S.E.M. of four show the effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on seizure generation after electrical lesionings at the PirC. Upper panel or five animals. Seizure incidence (right graph) represents the percentage of animals which showed convulsive seizures (scores 4 or 5) against total animals examined.



0

electrical lesion sites in Th. Behavioral scores (left graph) are expressed as the mean of \pm S.E.M. of four or five animals. the effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on seizure generation after electrical lesionings at the Th. Upper panel illustrate the Seizure incidence (right graph) represents the percentage of animals which showed convulsive seizures (scores 4 or 5) Figure 15: Effects of electrical lesionings of the thalamus (Th) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats. Panels show against total animals examined.



of four or five animals. Seizure incidence (right graph) represents the percentage of animals which showed convulsive Panels show the effects of nicotine (4 mg/kg, i.p.) on seizure generation after electrical lesionings at the MHb. Upper Figure 16: Effects of electrical lesionings of the medial habenula (MHb) on nicotine-induced seizures in rats. panel illustrate the electrical lesion sites in MHb. Behavioral scores (left graph) are expressed as the mean of \pm S.E.M. seizures (scores 4 or 5) against total animals examined.



Figure 17: Effects of nicotine microinjected into the amygdala (AMG) on convulsive seizure induction in rats. Nicotine (100 or 300 µg/side) was locally injected into the bilateral AMG. (A) Behavioral scores (left graph) are expressed as the mean \pm S.E.M. of 4–6 animals. Seizure incidence (right graph) represents the percentage of animals, which showed convulsive seizures (scores 4 or 5), against total animals examined. *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01; Significant different from the control group injected with vehicle alone (Vehicle). (B) The injected sites of nicotine in the AMG.


receptors, with a nominal participation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Nicotine at convulsive doses caused the activation of neurons in the PirC, AH, PT, MePD, MHb, Apir and Sol (green lines). Finally, by using electrical lesion and the microinjection studies suggest not PirC, PT or MHb, but the amygdala are a causative site (blue arrow) of nicotine-Figure 18: Schematic illustration of the mechanism of convulsive seizures induction by nicotine. According to our findings, nicotine at high doses (3-4 mg/kg, i.p.) elicited convulsive seizures primarily by activating neuronal α 7 nACh induced seizures.



(30 mg/kg, i.p.) or vehicle was administered to animals 15 min before the HAL injection, which was significantly different from the value for Vehicle + Vehicle. ## p < 0.01, significantly different from These data were analyzed using the Kruskal–Wallis and Steel–Dwass tests. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Figure 19: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)-induced bradykinesia. DCS followed by the pole test 30 min later. Each column represents the mean \pm S.E.M. of 6–7 mice. he value for Vehicle + HAL.



striatum (dIST) and accumbens shell (AcS). Representative photographs illustrating Fos protein expression in the dIST-positive cells in the dIST and AcS (left panel: Vehicle + HAL (1 mg/kg, i.p.)-treated Figure 20: Immunohistochemical analysis of Fos protein immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral mice, right panel: DCS (30 mg/kg, i.p.) + HAL (1 mg/kg, i.p.)-treated mice). Scale bar: 100 µm



* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, significantly different from the value for Vehicle + Vehicle. # p < 0.05, significantly dorsolateral striatum (dIST). DCS (30 mg/kg, i.p.) or vehicle was administered to animals 15 min before the HAL injection, brain was removed from animals 2 h after the HAL injection. Each column represents the mean \pm S.E.M. of 6–7 mice. These data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's test. Figure 21: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)-induced Fos expression in the different from the value for Vehicle + HAL.



HAL injection, brain was removed from animals 2 h after the HAL injection. Each column represents the accumbens shell (AcS). DCS (30 mg/kg, i.p.) or vehicle was administered to animals 15 min before the Figure 22: Effects of D-cycloserine (DCS) on haloperidol (HAL)-induced Fos expression in the mean \pm S.E.M. of 6–7 mice. These data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's test. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, significantly different from the value for Vehicle + Vehicle.